The

Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013

CONTENTS

CHAPTER I PRELIMINARY

Sections	77 Tr [[0] Migration 186	
1.		Page.
	extent and commencement	3
2.		3
3.	Prevention of sexual harassment	6
C	CHAPTER II ONSTITUTION OF INTERNAL COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE	
4.	Constitution of Internal Complaints Committee	7
	CHAPTER III	
	CONSTITUTION OF LOCAL COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE	
5.	Notification of District Officer	8
6.	Constitution and jurisdiction of Local Committee	9
7.	Composition, tenure and other terms and conditions of Local Committee	9
8.	Grants and audit	10
	CHAPTER IV COMPLAINT	
9.	Complaint of sexual harassment	11
10.	Conciliation	12
11.	Inquiry into complaint	12
	CHAPTER V INQUIRY INTO COMPLAINT	
12.	Action during pendency of inquiry	13
13.	Inquiry report	13
14.	Punishment for false or malicious complaint and false evidence	14
	Determination of compensation	14

Sections		Pages
16.	Prohibition of publication or making known contents of complaint and inquiry proceedings	15
17.	Penalty for publication or making known contents of complaint and inquiry proceedings	15
18.	Appeal	15
	CHAPTER VI DUTIES OF EMPLOYER	
19.	Duties of employer	16
	CHAPTER VII	
	DUTIES AND POWERS OF DISTRICT OFFICER	
20.	Duties and powers of District Officer	16
	CHAPTER VIII MISCELLANEOUS	
21.	Committee to submit annual report	17
22.	Employer to include information in annual report	17
23.	Appropriate Government to monitor implementation and maintain data	17
24.	Appropriate Government to take measures to publicise the Act	17
25.	Power to call for information and inspection of records	17
26.	Penalty for non-compliance with provisions of Act	18
27.	Cognizance of offence by courts	18
28.	Act not in derogation of any other law	18
29.	Power of appropriate Government to make rules	18
30.	Power to remove difficulties	19

The

Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 20131

[Act 14 of 2013]

[22nd April, 2013]

An Act to provide protection against sexual harassment of women at workplace and for the prevention and redressal of complaints of sexual harassment and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto

Whereas sexual harassment results in violation of the fundamental rights of a woman to equality under Articles 14 and 15 of the Constitution of India and her right to life and to live with dignity under Article 21 of the Constitution and right to practice any profession or to carry on any occupation, trade or business which includes a right to a safe environment free from sexual harassment;

And whereas the protection against sexual harassment and the right to work with dignity are universally recognised human rights by international conventions and instruments such as Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women, which has been ratified on the 25th June, 1993 by the Government of India;

And whereas it is expedient to make provisions for giving effect to the said Convention for protection of women against sexual harassment at workplace;

Be it enacted by Parliament in the sixty-fourth Year of the Republic of India as follows:-

CHAPTER I **PRELIMINARY**

- 1. Short title, extent and commencement.—(1) This Act may be called the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013.
 - (2) It extends to the whole of India.
- (3) It shall come into force on such date² as the Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, appoint.
 - 2. Definitions.—In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,—
 - (a) "aggrieved woman" means—

2. December 9, 2013 [Vide Noti. No. S.O. 3606(E), dated 9-12-2013].

^{1.} Received the assent of the President on April 22, 2013 and published in the Gazette of India, Extra., Part II, Section 1, dated 23rd April, 2013, pp. 1-12, No. 18.

- (i) in relation to a workplace, a woman, of any age, whether employed or not, who alleges to have been subjected to any act of sexual harassment by the respondent;
- (ii) in relation to a dwelling place or house, a woman of any age who is employed in such a dwelling place or house;
 - (b) "appropriate Government" means—
 - (i) in relation to a workplace which is established, owned, controlled or wholly or substantially financed by funds provided directly or indirectly—
 - (A) by the Central Government or the Union territory administration, the Central Government;
 - (B) by the State Government, the State Government;
 - (ii) in relation to any workplace not covered under sub-clause (i) and falling within its territory, the State Government;
 - (c) "Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Local Complaints Committee nominated under sub-section (1) of Section 7;
 - (d) "District Officer" means an officer notified under Section 5;
 - (e) "domestic worker" means a woman who is employed to do the household work in any household for remuneration whether in cash or kind, either directly or through any agency on a temporary, permanent, part time or full time basis, but does not include any member of the family of the employer;
 - (f) "employee" means a person employed at a workplace for any work on regular, temporary, ad hoc or daily wage basis, either directly or through an agent, including a contractor, with or, without the knowledge of the principal employer, whether for remuneration or not, or working on a voluntary basis or otherwise, whether the terms of employment are express or implied and includes a co-worker, a contract worker, probationer, trainee, apprentice or called by any other such name;
 - (g) "employer" means—
 - (i) in relation to any department, organisation, undertaking, establishment, enterprise, institution, office, branch or unit of the appropriate Government or a local authority, the head of that department, organisation, undertaking, establishment, enterprise, institution, office, branch or unit or such other officer as the appropriate Government or the local authority, as the case may be, may by an order specify in this behalf;
 - (ii) in any workplace not covered under sub-clause (i), any person responsible for the management, supervision and control of the workplace;
 - Explanation.—For the purposes of this sub-clause "management" includes the person or board or committee responsible for formulation and administration of policies for such organisation;

- (iii) in relation to workplace covered under sub-clauses (i) and (ii), the person discharging contractual obligations with respect to his or her employees;
- (iv) in relation to a dwelling place or house, a person or a household who employs or benefits from the employment of domestic worker, irrespective of the number, time period or type of such worker employed, or the nature of the employment or activities performed by the domestic worker;
- (h) "Internal Committee" means an Internal Complaints Committee constituted under Section 4:
- (i) "Local Committee" means the Local Complaints Committee constituted under Section 6;
- (j) "Member" means a Member of the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be;
- (k) "prescribed" means prescribed by rules made under this Act;
- (1) "Presiding Officer" means the Presiding Officer of the Internal Complaints Committee nominated under sub-section (2) of Section 4;
- (m) "respondent" means a person against whom the aggrieved woman has made a complaint under Section 9;
- (n) "sexual harassment" includes any one or more of the following unwelcome acts or behaviour (whether directly or by implication) namely—
 - (i) physical contact and advances; or
 - (ii) a demand or request for sexual favours; or
 - (iii) making sexually coloured remarks; or
 - (iv) showing pornography; or
 - (v) any other unwelcome physical, verbal or non-verbal conduct of sexual nature;
- (o) "workplace" includes—

S. 21

- (i) any department, organisation, undertaking, establishment, enterprise, institution, office, branch or unit which is established, owned, controlled or wholly or substantially financed by funds provided directly or indirectly by the appropriate Government or the local authority or a Government company or a corporation or a co-operative society;
- (ii) any private sector organisation or a private venture, undertaking, enterprise, institution, establishment, society, trust, non-governmental organisation, unit or service provider carrying on commercial, professional, vocational, educational, entertainmental, industrial, health services or financial activities including production, supply, sale, distribution or service;
- (iii) hospitals or nursing homes;

- (iv) any sports institute, stadium, sports complex or competition or games venue, whether residential or not used for training, sports or other activities relating thereto;
- (v) any place visited by the employee arising out of or during the course of employment including transportation provided by the employer for undertaking such journey;
- (vi) a dwelling place or a house;
- (p) "unorganised sector" in relation to a workplace means an enterprise owned by individuals or self-employed workers and engaged in the production or sale of goods or providing service of any kind whatsoever, and where the enterprise employs workers, the number of such workers is less than ten.

CASE LAW ► Eve Teasing/Sexual Harassment/Outraging Modesty.—Sexual harassment has variety of fine connotations. Further held, its evaluation may sometimes depend upon sensitivity of person concerned i.e. manner in which offending act is perceived. Moreover, whether, perception of victim was made known to accused would also be relevant, especially in case falling in realm of oversensitivity since thereafter he would not be able to defend himself by projecting that he had not sexually harassed victim because he believed that alleged act was unoffending, Addl. District & Sessions Judge 'X' v. High Court of M.P., (2015) 4 SCC 91.

- 3. Prevention of sexual harassment.—(1) No woman shall be subjected to sexual harassment at any workplace.
- (2) The following circumstances, among other circumstances, if it occurs or is present in relation to or connected with any act or behaviour of sexual harassment may amount to sexual harassment—
 - (i) implied or explicit promise of preferential treatment in her employment; or
 - (ii) implied or explicit threat of detrimental treatment in her employment; or
 - (iii) implied or explicit threat about her present or future employment status; or
 - interference with her work or creating an intimidating or offensive or hostile work environment for her; or
 - (v) humiliating treatment likely to affect her health or safety.

CASE LAW ► Implementation of guidelines framed regarding sexual harassment at workplace.—State Government directed to give comprehensive publicity to the notifications and orders issued by it in compliance with the guidelines framed by Supreme Court in Vishaka, (1997) 6 SCC 241 and Medha Kotwal Lele, (2013) 1 SCC 311 regarding sexual harassment at workplace by publishing then in newspapers having maximum circulation in the State after every two months. Wide publicity to be given on local Doordarshan every month. Social Welfare Department and State Legal Services Authority also directed to give wide publicity to notifications and orders issued by State Government not only for government departments of the State and its agencies/instrumentalities but also for private companies, Seema Lepcha v. State of Sikkim, (2013) 11 SCC 641: (2013) 3 SCC (L&S) 384.

S. 41

Right to working conditions.—Organisations to which complaint mechanism as laid down in Vishaka, (1997) 6 SCC 241 should be extended. Bar Council of India and other statutory professional governing bodies directed to deal with sexual harassment complaints in accordance with Vishaka Directions, *Medha Kotwal Lele* v. *Union of India*, (2013) 1 SCC 297: (2013) 1 SCC (L&S) 159: (2013) 1 SCC (Cri) 459: (2013) 1

Right to working conditions.—In order to coordinate steps taken in implementation of directions issued in Vishaka, (1997) 6 SCC 241, directed that there should be a State-level officer i.e. either Secretary of Women and Child Welfare Department or any other suitable officer in charge of implementing Vishaka Directions. Chief Secretaries of each State shall see that an officer is appointed as a nodal agent to collect details and to give suitable directions. Labour Commissioner of each State shall take steps that Vishaka Directions are fully complied with in factories, shops and commercial establishments. They shall also collect details regarding complaints and also see that required Complaints Committee is established in such institutions. States to furnish details as to steps taken in pursuance of these directions within eight weeks, *Medha Kotwal Lele v. Union of India*, (2013) 1 SCC 312: (2013) 1 SCC (L&S) 175: (2013) 1 SCC (Cri) 473: (2013) 1 SCC (Civ) 474.

CHAPTER II

CONSTITUTION OF INTERNAL COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE

4. Constitution of Internal Complaints Committee.—(1) Every employer of a workplace shall, by an order in writing, constitute a Committee to be known as the "Internal Complaints Committee":

Provided that where the offices or administrative units of the workplace are located at different places or divisional or sub-divisional level, the Internal Committee shall be constituted at all administrative units or offices.

- (2) The Internal Committee shall consist of the following members to be nominated by the employer, namely—
 - (a) a Presiding Officer who shall be a woman employed at a senior level at workplace from amongst the employees:

Provided that in case a senior level woman employee is not available, the Presiding Officer shall be nominated from other offices or administrative units of the workplace referred to in sub-section (1):

- Provided further that in case the other offices or administrative units of the workplace do not have a senior level woman employee, the Presiding Officer shall be nominated from any other workplace of the same employer or other department or organisation;
- (b) not less than two Members from amongst employees preferably committed to the cause of women or who have had experience in social work or have legal knowledge;
- (c) one member from amongst non-governmental organisations or associations committed to the cause of women or a person familiar with the issues relating to sexual harassment:

Provided that at least one-half of the total Members so nominated shall be women.

- (3) The Presiding Officer and every Member of the Internal Committee shall hold office for such period, not exceeding three years, from the date of their nomination as may be specified by the employer.
- (4) The Member appointed from amongst the non-governmental organisations or associations shall be paid such fees or allowances for holding the proceedings of the Internal Committee, by the employer, as may be prescribed.
 - (5) Where the Presiding Officer or any Member of the Internal Committee,—
 - (a) contravenes the provisions of Section 16; or
 - (b) has been convicted for an offence or an inquiry into an offence under any law for the time being in force is pending against him; or
 - (c) he has been found guilty in any disciplinary proceedings or a disciplinary proceeding is pending against him; or
 - (d) has so abused his position as to render his continuance in office prejudicial to the public interest,

such Presiding Officer or Member, as the case may be, shall be removed from the Committee and the vacancy so created or any casual vacancy shall be filled by fresh nomination in accordance with the provisions of this section.

CASE LAW ► Sexual Harassment Complaints Committee.—Reports of Sexual Harassment Complaints Committee shall not be treated as a mere preliminary investigation or inquiry leading to a disciplinary action but shall be treated as a finding/report in inquiry into misconduct of delinquent. Until appropriate legislation is in place, manner in which a victim is to be given protection against harasser indicated. For this government and public sectors directed to carry out requisite amendment is CSC rules (Civil Service Conduct Rules). For private sector, Standing Orders under the Industrial Employment (Standing Orders) Act, 1946 directed to be amended, *Medha Kotwal Lele v. Union of India*, (2013) 1 SCC 297: (2013) 1 SCC (Civ) 459: (2013) 1 SCC (Civ) 458.

CHAPTER III

CONSTITUTION OF LOCAL COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE

5. Notification of District Officer.—The appropriate Government may notify a District Magistrate or Additional District Magistrate or the Collector or Deputy Collector as a District Officer for every District to exercise powers or discharge functions under this Act.

NOTIFICATION

Department of Women & Child Development (Women Empowerment Cell), Noti. No. 60(198)/ DWCD/ADWEC/LCC/2014-15/46636-653, dated February 17, 2016, published in the Delhi Gazette, Extra., Part IV, dated 17th February, 2016, p. 1, No. 28.

In exercise of the powers conferred by Section 5. of The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition And Redressal) Act, 2013 (No. 14 of 2013), the Government of National Capital Territory of Delhi hereby nominates the District Magistrate of every District as "District Officer" to exercise the powers and discharge the functions under this Act in the National Capital Territory of Delhi.

The "District Officer" of every district shall constitute "Local Complaint Committee" under Section 6 of the said Act to receive complaints of sexual harassment from establishment where the "Internal Complaint Committee" has not been constituted due to having less than ten workers or if complaint is against the employer himself.

The District Officer shall designate one nodal officer in every ward/municipality to receive complaints and forward the same to the concerned Local Complaint Committee within a period of seven days.

The jurisdiction of Local Complaint Committee shall extend to the areas of the district where it is constituted.

The District Officer will discharge all the functions and powers in accordance with the Act.

- 6. Constitution and jurisdiction of ³[Local Committee].—(1) Every District Officer shall constitute in the district concerned, a committee to be known as the "⁴[Local Committee]" to receive complaints of sexual harassment from establishments where the ⁵[Internal Committee] has not been constituted due to having less than ten workers or if the complaint is against the employer himself.
- (2) The District Officer shall designate one nodal officer in every block, taluka and tehsil in rural or tribal area and ward or municipality in the urban area, to receive complaints and forward the same to the concerned ⁶[Local Committee] within a period of seven days.
- (3) The jurisdiction of the ⁷[Local Committee] shall extend to the areas of the district where it is constituted.
- 7. Composition, tenure and other terms and conditions of ⁸[Local Committee].—(1) The ⁹[Local Committee] shall consist of the following members to be nominated by the District Officer, namely—
 - (a) a Chairperson to be nominated from amongst the eminent women in the field of social work and committed to the cause of women;
 - (b) one Member to be nominated from amongst the women working in block, taluka or tehsil or ward or municipality in the district;
- (c) two Members, of whom at least one shall be a woman, to be nominated from amongst such non-governmental organisations or associations committed to the cause of women or a person familiar with the issues relating to sexual harassment, which may be prescribed:

Provided that at least one of the nominees should, preferably, have a background in law or legal knowledge:

Provided further that at least one of the nominees shall be a woman belonging to the Scheduled Castes or the Scheduled Tribes or the

^{3.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{4.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{5.} Subs. for "Internal Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{6.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{7.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{8.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

^{9.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

Other Backward Classes or minority community notified by the Central Government, from time to time;

- (d) the concerned officer dealing with the social welfare or women and child development in the district, shall be a member ex officio.
- (2) The Chairperson and every Member of the Local Committee shall hold office for such period, not exceeding three years, from the date of their appointment as may be specified by the District Officer.
 - (3) Where the Chairperson or any Member of the ¹⁰[Local Committee]—
 - (a) contravenes the provisions of Section 16; or
 - (b) has been convicted for an offence or an inquiry into an offence under any law for the time being in force is pending against him; or
 - (c) has been found guilty in any disciplinary proceedings or a disciplinary proceeding is pending against him; or
 - (d) has so abused his position as to render his continuance in office prejudicial to the public interest,

such Chairperson or Member, as the case may be, shall be removed from the Committee and the vacancy so created or any casual vacancy shall be filled by fresh nomination in accordance with the provisions of this section.

- (4) The Chairperson and Members of the Local Committee other than the Members nominated under clauses (b) and (d) of sub-section (1) shall be entitled to such fees or allowances for holding the proceedings of the Local Committee as may be prescribed.
- 8. Grants and audit.—(1) The Central Government may, after due appropriation made by Parliament by law in this behalf, make to the State Government grants of such sums of money as the Central Government may think fit, for being utilised for the payment of fees or allowances referred to in sub-section (4) of Section 7.
- (2) The State Government may set up an agency and transfer the grants made under sub-section (1) to that agency.
- (3) The agency shall pay to the District Officer, such sums as may be required for the payment of fees or allowances referred to in sub-section (4) of Section 7.
- (4) The accounts of the agency referred to in sub-section (2) shall be maintained and audited in such manner as may, in consultation with the Accountant General of the State, be prescribed and the person holding the custody of the accounts of the agency shall furnish, to the State Government, before such date, as may be prescribed, its audited copy of accounts together with auditors' report thereon.

CHAPTER IV COMPLAINT

9. Complaint of sexual harassment.—(1) Any aggrieved woman may make, in writing, a complaint of sexual harassment at workplace to the Internal Committee if so constituted, or the Local Committee, in case it is not so constituted, within a period of three months from the date of incident and in case of a series of incidents, within a period of three months from the date of last incident:

Provided that where such complaint cannot be made in writing, the Presiding Officer or any Member of the Internal Committee or the Chairperson or any Member of the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall render all reasonable assistance to the woman for making the complaint in writing:

Provided further that the Internal Committee or, as the case may be, the Local Committee may, for the reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the time limit not exceeding three months, if it is satisfied that the circumstances were such which prevented the woman from filing a complaint within the said period.

(2) Where the aggrieved woman is unable to make a complaint on account of her physical or mental incapacity or death or otherwise, her legal heir or such other person as may be prescribed may make a complaint under this section.

CASE LAW > Sexual harassment by judges/in courts.—In case of allegations pertaining to sexual harassment against sitting Judges of High Courts and Supreme Court. "In-House Procedure" devised in C. Ravichandran lyer, (1995) 5 SCC 457 can be adopted to examine allegations levelled against Judges of High Courts, Chief Justices of High Courts and Judges of Supreme Court of India. "In-House Procedure" is established means for enquiry into allegations of sexual harassment levelled against Judge of a superior court by his peers. It is confidential enquiry for institutional credibility under Chief Justice of India, sensitive in nature, and hence, kept out of public domain. Onus of recording prima facie view vests with the Chief Justice of High Court concerned and participation of other Judges of same High Court is rightly excluded to rule out element of bias. Chief Justice of High Court being a Judge from other State, shorn of prejudices and being on the spot, is most suited for said purpose. Further held, "In-House Procedure" may also culminate in impeachment proceedings under Art. 124 of Constitution. At first stage of invocation of "In House Procedure" against sitting High Court Judge, Chief Justice of High Court concerned has to prima facie ascertain veracity of allegations contained in complaint. In case CII endorses view taken by CI of High Court, only then may deeper probe undertaken by three-member Committee constituted by CII to probe authenticity of allegations levelled. Incumbents of said Committee must have no nexus with Judge concerned and principles of natural justice should be strictly followed. Not only should Judge concerned have fair opportunity of repudiate allegations levelled against him, but even complainant should be satisfied that investigation was fair. Investigative process under the "In-House Procedure" takes into consideration the rights of the complainant, and that of the Judge concerned, by adopting a fair procedure, to determine the veracity of allegations levelled against a sitting Judge. At the same time, it safeguards the integrity of the judicial institution. In order to ensure that the investigative process is fair and just, it is imperative to divest the Judge concerned (against whom allegations have been levelled), of his administrative and supervisory authority and control over witnesses, to be produced either on behalf of the complainant, or on behalf of the Judge concerned himself, Addl. District & Sessions Judge 'X' v. High Court of M.P., (2015) 4 SCC 91.

10. Conciliation.—(1) The Internal Committee or, as the case may be, the Local Committee, may, before initiating an inquiry under Section 11 and at the request of the aggrieved woman take steps to settle the matter between her and the respondent through conciliation:

Provided that no monetary settlement shall be made as a basis of conciliation.

- (2) Where a settlement has been arrived at under sub-section (1), the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall record the settlement so arrived and forward the same to the employer or the District Officer to take action as specified in the recommendation.
- (3) The Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall provide the copies of the settlement as recorded under sub-section (2) to the aggrieved woman and the respondent.
- (4) Where a settlement is arrived at under sub-section (1), no further inquiry shall be conducted by the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be.
- 11. Inquiry into complaint.—(1) Subject to the provisions of Section 10, the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall, where the respondent is an employee, proceed to make inquiry into the complaint in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to the respondent and where no such rules exist, in such manner as may be prescribed or in case of a domestic worker, the Local Committee shall, if prima facie case exist, forward the complaint to the police, within a period of seven days for registering the case under Section 509 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860), and any other relevant provisions of the said Code where applicable:

Provided that where the aggrieved woman informs the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, that any term or condition of the settlement arrived at under sub-section (2) of Section 10 has not been complied with by the respondent, the Internal Committee or the Local Committee shall proceed to make an inquiry into the complaint or, as the case may be, forward the complaint to the police:

Provided further that where both the parties are employees, the parties shall, during the course of inquiry, be given an opportunity of being heard and a copy of the findings shall be made available to both the parties enabling them to make representation against the findings before the Committee.

(2) Notwithstanding anything contained in Section 509 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860), the court may, when the respondent is convicted of the offence, order payment of such sums as it may consider appropriate, to the aggrieved woman by the respondent, having regard to the provisions of Section 15.

- (3) For the purpose of making an inquiry under sub-section (1), the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall have the same powers as are vested in a civil court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (5 of 1908) when trying a suit in respect of the following matters, namely—
 - (a) summoning and enforcing the attendance of any person and examining him on oath:
 - (b) requiring the discovery and production of documents; and
 - (c) any other matter which may be prescribed.
- (4) The inquiry under sub-section (1) shall be completed within a period of ninety days.

CHAPTER V INQUIRY INTO COMPLAINT

- 12. Action during pendency of inquiry.—(1) During the pendency of an inquiry, on a written request made by the aggrieved woman, the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, may recommend to the employer to-
 - (a) transfer the aggrieved woman or the respondent to any other workplace;
- grant leave to the aggrieved woman up to a period of three months; or
- grant such other relief to the aggrieved woman as may be prescribed.
- (2) The leave granted to the aggrieved woman under this section shall be in addition to the leave she would be otherwise entitled.
- (3) On the recommendation of the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, under sub-section (1), the employer shall implement the recommendations made under sub-section (1) and send the report of such implementation to the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be.
- 13. Inquiry report.—(1) On the completion of an inquiry under this Act, the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall provide a report of its findings to the employer, or as the case may be, the District Officer within a period of ten days from the date of completion of the inquiry and such report be made available to the concerned parties.
- (2) Where the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, arrives at the conclusion that the allegation against the respondent has not been proved, it shall recommend to the employer and the District Officer that no action is required to be taken in the matter.
- (3) Where the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, arrives at the conclusion that the allegation against the respondent has been proved, it shall recommend to the employer or the District Officer, as the case may be-
 - (i) to take action for sexual harassment as a misconduct in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to the respondent or

where no such service rules have been made, in such manner as may be prescribed;

(ii) to deduct, notwithstanding anything in the service rules applicable to the respondent, from the salary or wages of the respondent such sum as it may consider appropriate to be paid to the aggrieved woman or to her legal heirs, as it may determine, in accordance with the provisions of Section 15:

Provided that in case the employer is unable to make such deduction from the salary of the respondent due to his being absent from duty or cessation of employment it may direct to the respondent to pay such sum to the aggrieved woman:

Provided further that in case the respondent fails to pay the sum referred to in clause (ii), the Internal Committee or, as the case may be, the Local Committee may forward the order for recovery of the sum as an arrear of land revenue to the concerned District Officer.

- (4) The employer or the District Officer shall act upon the recommendation within sixty days of its receipt by him.
- 14. Punishment for false or malicious complaint and false evidence.—(1) Where the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, arrives at a conclusion that the allegation against the respondent is malicious or the aggrieved woman or any other person making the complaint has made the complaint knowing it to be false or the aggrieved woman or any other person making the complaint has produced any forged or misleading document, it may recommend to the employer or the District Officer, as the case may be, to take action against the woman or the person who has made the complaint under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) of Section 9, as the case may be, in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to her or him or where no such service rules exist, in such manner as may be prescribed:

Provided that a mere inability to substantiate a complaint or provide adequate proof need not attract action against the complainant under this section:

Provided further that the malicious intent on part of the complainant shall be established after an inquiry in accordance with the procedure prescribed, before any action is recommended.

- (2) Where the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, arrives at a conclusion that during the inquiry any witness has given false evidence or produced any forged or misleading document, it may recommend to the employer of the witness or the District Officer, as the case may be, to take action in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to the said witness or where no such service rules exist, in such manner as may be prescribed.
- 15. Determination of compensation.—For the purpose of determining the sums to be paid to the aggrieved woman under clause (ii) of sub-section (3) of

Section 13, the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall have regard to—

- (a) the mental trauma, pain, suffering and emotional distress caused to the aggrieved woman;
- (b) the loss in the career opportunity due to the incident of sexual harassment;
- (c) medical expenses incurred by the victim for physical or psychiatric treatment;
 - (d) the income and financial status of the respondent;
 - (e) feasibility of such payment in lump sum or in instalments.
- 16. Prohibition of publication or making known contents of complaint and inquiry proceedings.—Notwithstanding anything contained in the Right to Information Act, 2005 (22 of 2005), the contents of the complaint made under Section 9, the identity and addresses of the aggrieved woman, respondent and witnesses, any information relating to conciliation and inquiry proceedings, recommendations of the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, and the action taken by the employer or the District Officer under the provisions of this Act shall not be published, communicated or made known to the public, press and media in any manner:

Provided that information may be disseminated regarding the justice secured to any victim of sexual harassment under this Act without disclosing the name, address, identity or any other particulars calculated to lead to the identification of the aggrieved woman and witnesses.

- 17. Penalty for publication or making known contents of complaint and inquiry proceedings.—Where any person entrusted with the duty to handle or deal with the complaint, inquiry or any recommendations or action to be taken under the provisions of this Act, contravenes the provisions of Section 16, he shall be liable for penalty in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to the said person or where no such service rules exist, in such manner as may be prescribed.
- 18. Appeal.—(1) Any person aggrieved from the recommendations made under sub-section (2) of Section 13 or under clause (i) or clause (ii) of sub-section (3) of Section 13 or sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) of Section 14 or Section 17 or non-implementation of such recommendations may prefer an appeal to the court or tribunal in accordance with the provisions of the service rules applicable to the said person or where no such service rules exist then, without prejudice to provisions contained in any other law for the time being in force, the person aggrieved may prefer an appeal in such manner as may be prescribed.
- (2) The appeal under sub-section (1) shall be preferred within a period of ninety days of the recommendations.

CHAPTER VI DUTIES OF EMPLOYER

19. Duties of employer.—Every employer shall—

- (a) provide a safe working environment at the workplace which shall include safety from the persons coming into contact at the workplace;
- (b) display at any conspicuous place in the workplace, the penal consequences of sexual harassments; and the order constituting the Internal Committee under sub-section (1) of Section 4;
- (c) organise workshops and awareness programmes at regular intervals for sensitising the employees with the provisions of the Act and orientation programmes for the members of the Internal Committee in the manner as may be prescribed;
- (d) provide necessary facilities to the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, for dealing with the complaint and conducting an inquiry;
- (e) assist in securing the attendance of respondent and witnesses before the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be;
- (f) make available such information to the Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, as it may require having regard to the complaint made under sub-section (1) of Section 9;
- (g) provide assistance to the woman if she so chooses to file a complaint in relation to the offence under the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860) or any other law for the time being in force;
- (h) cause to initiate action, under the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860) or any other law for the time being in force, against the perpetrator, or if the aggrieved woman so desires, where the perpetrator is not an employee, in the workplace at which the incident of sexual harassment took place;
- (i) treat sexual harassment as a misconduct under the service rules and initiate action for such misconduct;
- (j) monitor the timely submission of reports by the Internal Committee.

CHAPTER VII

DUTIES AND POWERS OF DISTRICT OFFICER

20. Duties and powers of District Officer.—The District Officer shall,—

- (a) monitor the timely submission of reports furnished by the Local Committee;
- (b) take such measures as may be necessary for engaging non-governmental organisations for creation of awareness on sexual harassment and the rights of the women.

S. 251

CHAPTER VIII MISCELLANEOUS

- 21. Committee to submit annual report.—(1) The Internal Committee or the Local Committee, as the case may be, shall in each calendar year prepare, in such form and at such time as may be prescribed, an annual report and submit the same to the employer and the District Officer.
- (2) The District Officer shall forward a brief report on the annual reports received under sub-section (1) to the State Government.
- 22. Employer to include information in annual report.—The employer shall include in its report the number of cases filed, if any, and their disposal under this Act in the annual report of his organisation or where no such report is required to be prepared, intimate such number of cases, if any, to the District Officer.
- 23. Appropriate Government to monitor implementation and maintain data.—The appropriate Government shall monitor the implementation of this Act and maintain data on the number of cases filed and disposed of in respect of all cases of sexual harassment at workplace.
- 24. Appropriate Government to take measures to publicise the Act.—The appropriate Government may, subject to the availability of financial and other resources,—
 - (a) develop relevant information, education, communication and training materials, and organise awareness programmes, to advance the understanding of the public of the provisions of this Act providing for protection against sexual harassment of woman at workplace;
 - (b) formulate orientation and training programmes for the members of the ¹¹[Local Committee].
- 25. Power to call for information and inspection of records.—(1) The appropriate Government, on being satisfied that it is necessary in the public interest or in the interest of women employees at a workplace to do so, by order in writing,—
 - (a) call upon my employer or District Officer to furnish in writing such information relating to sexual harassment as it may require;
 - (b) authorise any officer to make inspection of the records and workplace in relation to sexual harassment, who shall submit a report of such inspection to it within such period as may be specified in the order.
- (2) Every employer and District Officer shall produce on demand before the officer making the inspection all information, records and other documents in his custody having a bearing on the subject matter of such inspection.

^{11.} Subs. for "Local Complaints Committee" by Act 23 of 2016, S. 3 and Sch. II.

- 26. Penalty for non-compliance with provisions of Act.—(1) Where the employer fails to—
 - (a) constitute an Internal Committee under sub-section (1) of Section 4;
 - (b) take action under Sections 13, 14 and 22; and
 - (c) contravenes or attempts to contravene or abets contravention of other provisions of this Act or any rules made thereunder,

he shall be punishable with fine which may extend to fifty thousand rupees.

- (2) If any employer, after having been previously convicted of an offence punishable under this Act subsequently commits and is convicted of the same offence, he shall be liable to—
 - (i) twice the punishment, which might have been imposed on a first conviction, subject to the punishment being maximum provided for the same offence:
 - Provided that in case a higher punishment is prescribed under any other law for the time being in force, for the offence for which the accused is being prosecuted, the court shall take due cognizance of the same while awarding the punishment.
 - (ii) cancellation, of his licence or withdrawal, or non-renewal, or approval, or cancellation of the registration, as the case may be, by the Government or local authority required for carrying on his business or activity.
- 27. Cognizance of offence by courts.—(1) No court shall take cognizance of any offence punishable under this Act or any rules made thereunder, save on a complaint made by the aggrieved woman or any person authorised by the Internal Committee or Local Committee in this behalf.
- (2) No court inferior to that of a Metropolitan Magistrate or a Judicial Magistrate of the first class shall try any offence punishable under this Act.
 - (3) Every offence under this Act shall be non-cognizable.
- 28. Act not in derogation of any other law.—The provisions of this Act shall be in addition to and not in derogation of the provisions of any other law for the time being in force.
- 29. Power of appropriate Government to make rules.—(1) The Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, make rules for carrying out the provisions of this Act.
- (2) In particular and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing power, such rules may provide for all or any of the following matters, namely—
 - (a) the fees or allowances to be paid to the Members under sub-section (4) of Section 4;
 - (b) nomination of members under clause (c) of sub-section (1) of Section 7;
 - (c) the fees or allowances to be paid to the Chairperson, and Members under sub-section (4) of Section 7;
 - (d) the person who may make complaint under sub-section (2) of Section 9;

(e) the manner of inquiry under sub-section (1) of Section 11;

S. 30]

- (f) the powers for making inquiry under clause (c) of sub-section (2) of Section 11;
- (g) the relief to be recommended under clause (c) of sub-section (1) of Section 12;
- (h) the manner of action to be taken under clause (i) of sub-section (3) of Section 13;
- (i) the manner of action to be taken under sub-sections (1) and (2) of Section 14;
- (j) the manner of action to be taken under Section 17;
- (k) the manner of appeal under sub-section (1) of Section 18;
- (1) the manner of organising workshops, awareness programmes for sensitising the employees and orientation programmes for the members of the Internal Committee under clause (c) of Section 19; and
- (m) the form and time for preparation of annual report by Internal Committee and the Local Committee under sub-section (1) of Section 21.
- (3) Every rule made by the Central Government under this Act shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of Parliament, while it is in session, for a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two or more successive sessions, and if, before the expiry of the session immediately following the session or the successive sessions aforesaid, both Houses agree in making any modification in the rule or both Houses agree that the rule should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be; so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that rule.
- (4) Any rule made under sub-section (4) of Section 8 by the State Government shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of the State Legislature where it consists of two Houses, or where such Legislature consists of one House, before that House.
- 30. Power to remove difficulties.—(1) If any difficulty arises in giving effect to the provisions of this Act, the Central Government may, by order published in the Official Gazette, make such provisions, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Act, as may appear to it to be necessary for removing the difficulty:

Provided that no such order shall be made under this section after the expiry of a period of two years from the commencement of this Act.

(2) Every order made under this section shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of Parliament.